IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA 


THERESA L. WEIMER, 

Plaintiff Below /Petitioner 

v. 	 No. 12-0477 

THOMAS SANDERS, individually and in his 
official capacity; C.C. LESTER, in his official 
capacity; and POCAHONTAS COUNTY 
BOARD OF EDUCATION, 

Defendant Below/Respondent 

THERESA A. WEIMER'S BRIEF IN SUPPORT 

OF HER PETITION FOR APPEAL 


ASSIGNl\1ENT OF ERROR 


There is one issue in which Petitioner assigns error: 


I. 	 The Pocahontas County Circuit Court erred when it dismissed Ms. Weimer's 
Complaint, alleging violations of the West Virginia Human Rights Act, 5-11
1 et seq., because she did not first exhaust her administrative remedies with

STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

On November 30, 2011, Theresa L. Weimer, a public school teacher, filed a Complaint 

against Thomas Sanders, the Principal of Pocahontas County High School, C.C. Lester, the 

Superintendent of Pocahontas County, and the Pocahontas County Board of Education in the 

Circuit Court of Pocahontas County. (Appendix at 6-19.) 

The Complaint details a long and complicated history between Ms. Weimer and the 

Defendants. Ms. Weimer began teaching at Pocahontas County High School in the Fall of 2006 

under Defendant Sanders, who was the acting principal at that time. (Appendix at 7.) During 
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the course of her employment, Defendant Sanders was aware that Ms. Weimer had the following 

disabilities: adult onset insulin-dependent diabetes; lumbar degenerative disk disease; depression; 

degenerative joint disease; fibromyalgia; plantar fascitis; acute renal failure; hypertension; and 

sleep apnea, among others. (Appendix at 7.) 

Throughout 2009, Defendant Sanders constantly complained to Ms. Weimer that she was 

"sleeping," "unable to work" or "unable to function properly." (Appendix at 8-9.) On October 6, 

2009, Defendant Sanders sent her a letter stating "I know you have health problems, but 1 cannot 

continue to tolerate your inability to distinguish whether you are capable of teaching. If you 

continue to exhibit this behavior, you must take a total disability." (Appendix at 9.) This letter 

caused Ms. Weimer to become very upset, as she believed that she could continue teaching but 

that Defendant Sanders was unwilling to support her medical difficulties. (Appendix at 9.) 

Ms. Weimer was suspended without pay on November 30,2009, but this unpaid 

suspension was converted into Family & Medical Leave Act leave in January, 2010. (Appendix 

at 9.) Ms. Weimer returned to work in the Fall 2010, with the expectation that Defendants would 

accommodate her upon returning to work. Even though Ms. Weimer requested various 

reasonable accommodations, such as smaller class sizes or assistance from a teacher's aide, 

Defendant Sanders refused to accommodate her and continued with his harassment. (Appendix 

at 15.) Defendant Sanders attempted to get Ms. Weimer to transfer to Marlinton Middle School 

and stated that he needed "healthy teachers" and it would be a "great weight off [his] shoulders if 

she was out [ of PCHS]". (Appendix at 10.) 

On October 6,2011, Ms. Weimer accidentally tripped and fell in her classroom. 

Defendant Sanders, under the impression that Ms. Weimer fell as a result of her disabilities, 

seized upon this incident and recommended her tennination. (Appendix at 11.) Following a pre
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termination hearing conducted with Defendant Superintendent Lester, Defendant Board of 

Education terminated Ms. Weimer at the recommendation of Defendants Sanders and Lester on 

October 27,2011. (Appendix at 15.) 

Following her termination, Ms. Weimer chose to file a complaint in circuit court instead 

of filing a grievance with the West Virginia Public Employees Grievance Board (hereinafter 

"Grievance Board"). In the Complaint, Ms. Weimer alleged three claims arising under the West 

Virginia Human Rights Act, § 5-11-1 et seq. (hereinafter "WVHRA"): (1) discriminatory 

discharge on the basis of actual or perceived disability, (2) hostile work environment on the basis 

of actual or perceived disability, and (3) disparate discipline on the basis of actual or perceived 

disability. (Appendix at 15-19.) 

The Defendants moved to dismiss Ms. Weimer's Complaint and argued that she must 

fIrst exhaust her administrative remedies with the Grievance Board pursuant to W. Va. Code § 

6C-2-1 et seq. (Appendix at 20-27.) The Defendants, however, did not cite a single statute, rule 

or case that requires a public employee to grieve her claims arising under the WVHRA in support 

of their argument. 

On March 12, 2012, the Circuit Court of Pocahontas County entered the "Order Granting 

Motion to Dismiss for Failure to Exhaust Administrative Remedies." (Appendix at 1-5.) The 

court based its reasoning on the erroneous assumption that Ms. Weimer's allegations did not 

appear to be connected to her disability, but were only employment disputes with other 

individuals in the school system. The court then concluded that Ms. Weimer should grieve her 

claims because the Grievance Board already has subject matter jurisdiction and thus may be the 

more efficient forum. (Appendix at 3-5.) 

Ms. Weimer now appeals from the lower court decision and requests an Order from this 

Court for the reinstatement of her Complaint in Pocahontas County Circuit Court. 
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SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT 

The specific question before the Court is whether a public employee who alleges claims 

under the WVHRA must first exhaust her administrative remedies through the grievance process 

contained in W. Va. Code § 6C-2-1 et seq. 

The answer to this question is a resounding "no." 

The lower court ruling completely disregards the complexity of disparate treatment law 

under the WVHRA and fails to recognize the limitations of the Grievance Board in adjudicating 

WVHRA claims. The seriousness of this ruling cannot be overstated, as it forces all state 

employees who suffer discrimination and harassment based on their protected status to fIrst go 

through the grievance process. This type of requirement serves no public policy and simply 

delays justice for victims of discrimination. 

The lower court ruling must be reversed for the following reasons (1) the grievance 

statute does not require exhaustion and the Grievance Board does not have the authority to 

determine liability or provide relief under the WVHRA; (2) public policy favors a no exhaustion 

requirement for claims brought under the WVHRA; and (3) the court erred in making 

assumptions about the allegations in the Complaint. 

STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT 

Ms. Weimer seeks to have the Clerk schedule this case for oral argument under Rule 20 

of the Rules of Appellate Procedure. This case involves an issue of first impression that is of 

fundamental public importance. Oral argument is therefore appropriate for this matter. 
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ARGUMENT 


A. 	 Standard of Review 

The Defendants filed a motion to dismiss for lack of subject matter jurisdiction pursuant 

to Rule 12(b)(1) of the West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure. (Appendix at 20.) This Court's 

review of the lower court ruling is therefore de novo. See Beichler v. West Virginia University at 

Parkersburg, 226 W. Va. 321,323-34, 700 S.E.2d 532,534-35 (2010); Syl. Pt. 2, State ex reI. 

McGraw v. Scott Runyan Pontiac-Buick, 194 W. Va. 770, 461 S.E.2d 516 (1995)(holding 

"[a]ppellate review of a circuit court's order granting a motion to dismiss a complaint is de 

novo.") 

Here, the de novo standard is directly applicable because Ms. Weimer's appeal raises a 

purely legal issue. As noted in syllabus point 2 of State ex reI. Orlofske v. City ofWheeling, 212 

W. Va. 538, 575 S.E.2d 148 (2002), "[w]here the issue of an appeal from the circuit court is 

clearly a question oflaw ... we apply a de novo standard of review [.]" 

B. 	 No West Virginia Law Requires Administrative Exhaustion of WVHRA 
Claims 

Simply stated, there is no law in West Virginia that requires an individual to exhaust her 

administrative remedies with the Grievance Board when she alleges claims under the WVHRA. 

The WVHRA does not require administrative exhaustion, the grievance statute does not require 

administrative exhaustion, and no West Virginia case law requires administrative exhaustion. 

Although the question of administrative exhaustion has not been addressed with respect 

to W. Va. Code § 6C-2-1 et seq., this issue was analyzed in Vest v. Board ofEduc., 193 W. Va. 

222,455 S.E.2d 781 (1995), which concerned the former grievance statute. The Vest decision 

expressly held that the Grievance Board did not have authority to determine liability of WVHRA 

claims brought through the grievance process. 
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The West Virginia Education and State Employees Grievance Board does not 
have authority to determine liability under the West Virginia Human Rights 
Act, W. Va. Code, 5-11-1, et seq.; nevertheless, the Grievance Board's authority to 
provide relief to employees for "discrimination," "favoritism," and "harassment," 
as those terms are defined in W. Va. Code, 18-29-2 (1992), includes jurisdiction 
to remedy discrimination that also would violate the Human Rights Act. 

Syl. Pt. 1, Vest v. Board 0/Educ., 193 W. Va. 222,455 S.E.2d 781 (emphasis added). The 

Court further explained this point with the following 

Clearly, the Grievance Board's authority extends only to resolving grievances 
made cognizable by its authorizing legislation, that is, those grievances 
recognized in W. Va. Code, 18-29-2. Just as certainly, there is no authority in 
the statute for the Grievance Board to decide whether a person states a claim 
under the Human Rights Act. In fact, W. Va. Code, 5-11-10 (1994), W. Va. 
Code, 5-11-11 (1989), and W. Va. Code, 5-11-13 (1983), commit interpretation 
and enforcement of the Human Rights Act to the Human Rights Commission and 
to the courts of this State. Price v. Boone County Ambulance Auth., 175 W. Va. 
676,337 S.E.2d 913 (1985). 

Vest, 193 W. Va. at 225,455 S.E.2d at 784 (emphasis added). 1 

In this case, no statute or rule requires the exhaustion of administrative remedies prior to 

filing a lawsuit. The applicable section of the grievance statute merely states "Within fifteen days 

following the occurrence of the event upon which the grievance is based ... an employee may 

file a written grievance with the chief administrator stating the nature of the grievance and the 

relief requested and request either a conference or a hearing." W. Va. Code § 6C-2

4(a)(1)(emphasis added). Hence, the plain language of the statute provides that an employee may 

choose the grievance procedure, but she is not required to do so. As this Court is aware from its 

previous decisions, where the language of a statute is plain, the statute should be applied as it is 

written and need not be construed. Syl. Pt. 2, State v. Elder, 152 W. Va. 571, 165 S.E.2d 108 

(1968) ("Where the language of a statute is clear and without ambiguity the plain meaning is to 

1 This fact is also expressly recognized by the Grievance Board. See Latif v. Department 
o/Transportation, Docket No. 2008-1608-DOT n. 1. 
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be accepted without resorting to the rules of interpretation."). See also Appalachian Power Co. v. 

State Tax Dep't. of West Virginia, 195 W. Va. 573, 587, 466 S.E.2d 424,438 (1995) ("We look 

flrst to the statute's language. If the text, given its plain meaning, answers the interpretive 

question, the language must prevail and further inquiry is foreclosed."). 

Likewise, it is well-settled law that the WVHRA has no requirement that a complainant 

first exhaust her administrative remedies, despite the fact that the West Virginia Human Rights 

Commission is available to adjudicate such matters. In Price v. Boone County Ambulance 

Authority, 175 W. Va. 676, 337 S.E.2d 913 (1985), the West Virginia Supreme Court of Appeals 

held that "[a] plaintiff may, as an alternative to filing a complaint with the Human Rights 

Commission, initiate an action in circuit court to enforce rights granted by the West Virginia 

Human Rights Act." If the WVHRA does not require a victim to go through its own 

administrative process, then it certainly does not require a victim to go through a separate 

grievance process. 

The Court recently addressed the exhaustion issue in Beichler v. West Virginia University 

at Parkersburg, 226 W. Va. 321, 700 S.E.2d 532. In Beichler, the Court reversed a circuit 

court's dismissal of a public employee's complaint alleging a violation of the Wage Payment and 

Collection Act, § 21-5-1 et seq., because the employee failed to exhaust his administrative 

remedies. On appeal, the employee argued that the plain language of the Act did not preclude an 

initial circuit court action, but instead provided him with the option of filing the claim 

administratively or through the court system. 226 W. Va. at 324, 700 S.E.2d at 535. 

In reviewing the Act, the Court noted that the actual words of the statute provide "Any 

person whose wages have not been paid in accord with this article ... may bring any legal action 

necessary to collect a claim under this article." [d. at 324, 700 S.E.2d at 535 (emphasis in 

original). Hence, if the Legislature intended for all wage payment violations to be heard through 
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administrative channels, the Legislature would have provided such language in the statute. The 

Court therefore held "until W. Va. Code, 21-5-12(a)(1975), is amended by the Legislature, the 

pursuit and exhaustion of administrative remedies do not constitute a condition precedent to 

instituting a wage payment action in circuit court." !d. at 325, 700 S.E.2d at 536. 

Similar to the Wage Payment and Collection Act, the WVHRA has no requirement to 

exhaust administrative remedies in circuit court. Given that no other statute, rule or case requires 

an employee to grieve her claims under WVHRA, Ms. Weimer should be allowed to pursue her 

claims in circuit court. 

C. 	 West Virginia Public Policy Supports Adjudication of WVHRA Claims in 
Circuit Court 

The underlying Complaint in this matter details an ongoing history of discrimination 

between Ms. Weimer and the Defendants. Given this long and complicated history, forcing Ms. 

Weimer to go through the grievance process would be an exercise in futility. See State ex rei. 

Bd. ofEduc. ofKanawha County v. Casey, 176 W. Va. 733, 349 S.E.2d 436 (1986). Here, the 

Grievance Board procedures do not provide Ms. Weimer with an opportunity to seek the relief 

she desires or to adequately adjudicate her claims. The Vest opinion makes this point abundantly 

clear in its discussion of claims brought pursuant to WVHRA. During the discussion as to 

whether claim or issue preclusion attaches to WVHRA claims heard by the Grievance Board, the 

Court stated 

[W]e refuse to impose such a bar on subsequent litigation under the Human 
Rights Act. Employees appearing before the Grievance Board may have legitimate 
reasons for not raising the more difficult and far more contentious issue of 
discriminatory motive, and because many grievants lack the assistance of a 
lawyer, they may not even recognize the potential for a human rights claim. 

Vest, 193 W. Va. at 226-27, 455 S.E.2d 785-86. 

Significantly, the Court goes even further in its discussion of the Grievance Board's 
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inability to properly adjudicate WVHRA claims. 

The Procedures employed by the Grievance Board are not substantially similar 
to those employed by either a court oflaw or the Human Rights Commission 
(Commission), and the differences are ofprofound significance. Thus, even if a 
grievance hearing examiner concludes that an employer's adverse action to a 
grievant was not "discriminatory," but was job related, that determination is not 
binding on a court or the Commission deciding a claim under the Human Rights 
Act--regardless of whether the grievant alleged or adduced evidence of 
discriminatory motive or disparate impact at the grievance hearing and regardless 
of whether the Grievance Board made a determination about such issues. 

Vest, 193 W. Va. at 227,455 S.E.2d at 786 (emphasis added). 

These public policy concerns are also echoed by the Supreme Court of Ohio in Dworning 

v. City ofEuclid, 892 N.E.2d 420 (Ohio 2008). In ruling that a former city fire chief alleging 

discrimination was not required to exhaust administrative remedies, the court stated "[t]he 

remedial purposes of the discrimination laws are not served by requiring exhaustion of 

administrative remedies." 892 N.E.2d at 422. The Supreme Court of Ohio thus concluded "[t]he 

protection of an individual's right to pursue private remedies is too central an aspect of Ohio's 

commitment to nondiscrimination to be limited to, or delayed by, an administrative process." [d. 

at 428. West Virginia is also committed to remedying discrimination by providing a forum with 

the Human Rights Commission or a court of law. Similar to the sentiments expressed by Ohio, 

any administrative delay or limitation will only interfere with an individual's right to pursue a 

discrimination claim in West Virginia. 

The West Virginia Legislature designed the Grievance Board to function as an efficient 

administrative tribunal utilized to resolve employment disputes. Allegations of disability-based 

discrimination and harassment are not simple employment disputes. Forcing victims of 

discrimination to go through the grievance process serves no legitimate purpose, as the 

procedures and remedies afforded in courts of law promote the public policy of ending such 
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discriminatory practices in West Virginia. The Legislature recognized this significant public 

policy, as the WVHRA itself does not even require an individual to exhaust her administrative 

remedies with the Commission before bringing suit in court. Any supposed expediency or 

efficiency offered by the grievance process is supplanted by the importance of allowing victims 

of discrimination to be heard in a court of law. 

Moreover, the simple act of filing a grievance is futile because the time frame for filing 

with the Grievance Board has lapsed. Pursuant to W. Va. Code § 6C-2-4(a)(1), an employee must 

file her grievance within fifteen days of the grievable event. Hence, even if Ms. Weimer filed a 

grievance at this point in time, Defendants would likely move to dismiss it as untimely. Ms. 

Weimer would therefore not only be denied the benefit of her election of remedies, but also 

would be left without a remedy at all. 

Based on the foregoing, it becomes clear that West Virginia public policy does not 

require a victim of discrimination to first administratively exhaust her WVHRA claims with the 

Grievance Board. 

D. The Circuit Court Erred In Its Reading of the Complaint 

As a justification for dismissing Ms. Weimer's Complaint, the lower court reviewed her 

allegations and concluded that they did not appear to be WVHRA claims 

Plaintiff's complaint alleges many facts that point to 'discrimination' and 
'harassment' and 'favoritism' that are not due at [sic] her disability or perceived 
disability, as well as to other matters that may be 'violations' properly addressed 
by the grievance procedure, such as the allegations of changing a student's grade 
for football, and improper supervision by a P .E. teacher. 

(Appendix at 4.) 

Interestingly, the above allegations concerning the student's grade and the teacher's 

improper supervision are simply two of sixty-eight paragraphs concerning the disparate treatment 
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and harassment faced by Ms. Weimer. The actions of Defendant Sanders, such as his refusal to 

engage in the accommodation process with Ms. Weimer and his comments that he only wanted 

"healthy teachers", directly establish prima facie evidence of disability discrimination. See 

Skaggs v. Elk Run Coal Co., 198 W. Va. 51,479 S.E.2d 561 (1996) (Appendix at 7-11.) Given 

that a majority of the allegations directly deal with Ms. Weimer's protected status, it is unfair for 

the lower court to only focus on two paragraphs of the Complaint in granting the motion to 

dismiss. 

More significantly, Ms. Weimer's allegations reasonably fall within the purview of 

disparate treatment law. Disparate treatment cases rarely have evidence of direct or intentional 

discrimination. As this Court noted in Conaway v. Eastern Associated Coal Corp., 178 W. Va. 

164,358 S.E.2d 423 (1986), 

Because discrimination is essentially an element of the mind, there will probably 
be very little direct proof available. Direct proof, however, is not required. What 
is required ofthe plaintiffis to show some evidence which would sufficiently 
link the employer's decision and the plaintiffs status as a member ofa 
protected class so as to give rise to an inference that the employment decision 
was based on an illegal discriminatory criterion. 

Conaway, 178 W. Va. at 170-71, 358 S.E.2d at 429-30 (emphasis added). 

Ms. Weimer receives protection under the WVHRA because of her actual and/or 

perceived disabilities. Whether or not she was treated differently on account of these disabilities 

requires the lower court to analyze her treatment in comparison to similarly-situated employees. 

In alleging the issues concerning the student's grade and the gym teacher's behavior, Ms. 

Weimer was merely providing circumstantial evidence of disparate treatment. 

The lower court, however, interjected its own judgment and determined that such 

allegations were not connected to disability discrimination. Such action is not favored by this 

Court. "Since the preference is to decide cases on their merits, courts presented with a motion to

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