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

III. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT 

Petitioner frames the issue presented before this Court as "whether a public employee 

who alleges claims under the WVHRA must first exhaust her administrative remedies through 

the grievance process contained in West Virginia Code § 6C-2-1, et seq." More accurately 

stated, the issue before this Court is actually: Whether a public employee who alleges claims 

subject to the subject-matter jurisdiction of the West Virginia Public Employee Grievance Board, 

as provided by West Virginia Code § 6C-2-1, et seq., must first exhaust her administrative 

remedies through the grievance process contained in West Virginia Code § 6C-2-1, et seq. when 
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those claims may also violate the West Virginia Human Rights Act ("WVHRA")?" The only 

answer supported by the long-standing doctrines, statutes, and case law of this State is YES. 

Petitioner asserts essentially four reasons for why the Pocahontas County Circuit Court 

"erred when it dismissed [Petitioner's] Complaint." These reasons are: (1) the Grievance 

Statute does not require exhaustion; (2) the West Virginia Public Employee Grievance Board 

("Grievance Board") does not have authority to determine liability or provide relief under the 

WVHRA; (3) public policy favors a no exhaustion requirement for claims brought under the 

WVHRA; and (4) the lower Court erred in making assumptions about the allegations in the 

Complaint. After a full and careful analysis of each of these reasons, it is clear that Petitioner's 

asserted reasoning is without merit and not supported by law. 

With respect to Petitioner's first assertion, it is clear that the language of the Grievance 

Statute does, in fact, require exhaustion. While Petitioner relies on the Legislature'S use of the 

word "may" in the Grievance Statute, it is clear that the Legislature intended the use of the word 

"may" to mean that a public employee has a choice to file a grievance, as opposed to a choice of 

forum in which to file a grievance. Based upon prior holdings of this Court in interpreting 

legislative intent with respect to the doctrine of exhaustion of administrative remedies, this Court 

has only found the Legislature intended the doctrine of failure to exhaust administrati\:,e remedies 

to not apply only when the statute itself contained a choice of forum. Because the Grievance 

Statute does not grant a public employee a choice of forum, this analogy fails. Thus, Petitioner's 

first assertion is without merit. 

Petitioner's next assertion, that the Grievance Board does not have authority to hear 

Petitioner's claim fails based upon prior holdings of this Court. This Court has previously held 

that "nevertheless, the Grievance Board's authority to provide relief to employees for 
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"discrimination," "favoritism," and "harassment," as those tenns are defined in W.Va. Code, 18

29-2 (1995)1 includes jurisdiction to remedy discrimination that also would violate the Human 

Rights Act." Syl. Pt. 1, Vest v. Board of Educ., 193 W.Va. 222, 455 S.E.2d 781 (1995) 

(emphasis added). Because of this, it is clear that the Grievance Board has subject-matter 

jurisdiction over Petitioner's Complaint, despite her attempted invocation of the WVHRA. 

Thus, the Grievance Statute itself, based upon the clear precedent of this Court, requires 

exhaustion of the legislatively afforded administrative remedy prior to Petitioner bringing this 

Complaint in the Circuit Court. Thus, Petitioner's second assertion fails. 

Petitioner's third assertion regarding what her opinion as to the public policy of this State 

is shortsighted. While Petitioner attempts to pit the Grievance Statute against the WVHRA, this 

position fails. It is clear that both the Grievance Statute and the WVHRA are not mutually 

exclusive, bW each statutory scheme seeks the same outcome. Additionally, the underlying 

policies of the doctrine of exhaustion of administrative remedies, which have been reco gnized by 

this Court, not only support a finding that the doctrine must be applied here, but that judicial 

economy will be better served by requiring the doctrine of exhaustion of the administrative 

remedies in this situation. As such, the public policy of this State mandates that this Court 

uphold the doctrine of exhaustion of administrative remedies in this situation because the same 

goals of the Grievance Statute and the WVHRA will be better served. Thus, Petitioner's third 

assertion fails. 

The final assertion of Petitioner, that the lower court misinterpreted Petitioner's 

Complaint, is unfounded. The lower court relied upon Petitioner's Complaint, specifically the 

1 The West Virginia Legislature amended West Virginia Code § 21-5-1, et seq. subsequent to the decision in Vest 
and this procedure is now codified under W. Va. Code § 6C-2-2. It is important to note that the words 
"discrimination," "favoritism," and "harassment" are defined similarly under former West Virginia Code § 21-5-1, 
et seq. and the current statute. 
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paragraphs that assert certain treatment was based solely with the intent to protect the PCHS 

Warrior football team. Based upon Petitioner's own assertion of Respondents' intent, there can 

only be one conclusion - not that some of Petitioner's allegations are based on the WVHRA, but 

are based upon grievances as defined by the Grievance Statute. Additionally, pursuant to Vest, 

the Grievance Statute encompasses claims of discrimination that would fall within the WVHRA. 

Because, pursuant to the Grievance Statute, the Grievance Board has subject-matter jurisdiction 

over Petitioner's claims, by properly applying the doctrine of exhaustion of administrative 

remedies, the lower court had no choice but to properly apply the law and dismiss Petitioner's 

Complaint. Petitioner's asserted the intent of Respondents and that intent was not based upon 

discrimination. Thus, Petitioner's final assertion fails. 

Quite simply, Petitioner has ignored settled laws and long-standing judicial doctrines of 

this State in an effort to curtail the administrative procedure afforded to her by the Grievance 

Statute, for which this Court has explicitly held that "nevertheless, the Grievance Board's 

authority to' provide relief to employees for "discrimination," "favoritism," and "harassment," as 

those tenns are defined in W.Va. Code, 18-29-2 (1995) includes jurisdiction to remedy 

discrimination that also would violate the Human Rights Act." Vest, 193 W.Va. at Syl. Pt. 1, 

455 S.E.2d at Syl. Pt. 1 (emphasis added). As such, it is clear this Court must uphold the lower 

court's dismissal of this claim. 

IV. STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT 

Respondents state that this matter is appropriate for oral argument pursuant to Rule 20 of 

the West Virginia Appellate Procedure because it is a matter of great public importance. 

Therefore, Respondents request this matter be placed on the Court's Argument Calendar. 

5 




V. STANDARD OF REVIEW 


"Appellate review of a circuit court's order granting a motion to dismiss a complaint is de 

novo." Syl. Pt. 2, State ex rei. McGraw v. Scott Runyan Pontiac-Buick, Inc., 194 W.Va. 770,461 

S.E.2d 516 (1995). The de novo standard is the applicable standard for dismissals based upon 

lack of subject matter jurisdiction. See Johnson v. CJ Mahan Constr. Co., 210 W. Va. 438, 

441,557 S.E.2d 845,848 (2001). As for the burden of proof on an appeal, the Court has noted, 

"An appellant must carry the burden of showing error in the judgment of which he complains." 

Syl. Pt. 2, West Virginia Department ojHealth & Human Resources Employees Federal Credit 

Union v. Tennant, 215 W.Va. 387, 599 S.E.2d 810 (2004). Finally, "[t]his Court will not reverse 

the judgment of a trial court unless error affirmatively appears from the record. . .. Error will 

not be presumed, all presumptions being in favor of the correctness of the judgment." Id. 

VI. ARGUMENT 

1. THE GRIEVANCE STATUTE REQUIRES EXHAUSTION 

Petitioner's first assertion is that the Grievance Statute does not require exhaustion of the 

administrative remedies. Petitioner bases this assertion on the statutory use of the word "may" 

and the Court's holding in the Beichler v. West Virginia University at Parkersburg, where the 

Court held a party is not required to exhaust administrative remedies for claims arising under the 

Wage Payment and Collection Act, § 21-5-1, et seq. Beichler v. West Virginia University at 

Parkersburg, 226 W.Va. 321, 326, 700 S.E.2d 532,537 (2010). First, it is important to note that 

Petitioner fails to provide any support for her assertion that the Legislature intended for the use 

of the word "may" in the Grievance Statute to signify an employee's choice in the forum. In 

addition, Petitioner's position is unavailing because, unlike the Wage Payment and Collection 

Act and the West Virginia Human Rights Act, the Grievance Statute does not provide any other 
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avenue for adjudication, which was dispositive in the Court's decision in Reichler. As such, 

Petitioner's first argument fails. 

The Grievance Statute provides that "an employee may file a written grievance with the 

chief administrator ...." West Virginia Code § 6C-2-4(a)(1). However, as this point will be 

more fully explained below, the Grievance Statute fails to provide the option for an employee to 

pursue a claim alleging a violation of this statute in any other legal forum. It follows, therefore, 

that the Legislature's use of the word "may" is not a signal of its intention for an employee to file 

this claim in any forum of the employee's choosing, as evidenced by the failure of the 

Legislature to mention any other forum, but "may" is used to signify that an employee has an 

option to file a grievance. While certainly many employees may be subject to a violation of the 

Grievance Statute, certain employs "may" decide to not file a grievance. 

In addition, the intention of the Legislature's use of the word "may" to signify that an 

employee has a choice of filing a claim is further clarified by the express purpose of the 

Grievance Statute. The Grievance Statute states, "[ n Jothing in this article prohibits the informal 

disposition of grievances by stipulation or settlement agreed to in writing by the parties ...." 

West Virginia Code § 6C-2-1(c). Obviously, if the Legislature used the word "shall" in West 

Virginia Code § 6C-2-4(a)(1), one of the expressed purposes of the statute would be undermined 

because an employee would be required to file a grievance, as opposed to coming to an informal 

stipUlation or settlement for which the Grievance Statute expressly announces as one of its 

purposes. Therefore, based upon the above, it is clear that the Legislature carefully selected the 

word "may" in West Virginia Code § 6C-2-4(a)(1) to signify the employee has an option of 

pursuing a grievance, as opposed to Petitioner's argument that this signifies the Legislature'S 
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intention to allow an employee to select the forum for which an employee can pursue a 

grievance. 

Because the Grievance Statute fails to mention any other legal forum, Petitioner attempts 

to analogize this statute to the Wage Payment and Collection Act fails. In Beichler, this Court 

previously found that a plaintiff must not exhaust the administrative remedies when pursuing a 

claim pursuant to the Wage Payment and Collection Act. See Beichler, 226 W.Va. at 324, 700 

S.E.2d at 535. However, as touched upon above, the language used in the Grievance Statute is 

absent of language the Court in Beichler found persuasive in finding an exception to the 

requirement that a plaintiff must exhaust available administrative remedies. Specifically, in 

Beichler, the Court found an exclusion to the doctrine of exhaustion of administrative remedies 

because the statute, while it includes an administrative procedure, allows for a plaintiff to remedy 

violations of the Wage Payment and Collection Act by "any legal action necessary." Id. at 324, 

700 S.E.2d at 535. 

Here, unlike the Wage Payment and Collection Act, the Grievance Statute is silent as to 

bringing actions outside of the grievance procedure as set forth in the statute. In fact, the statute 

sets forth only one avenue for when a public employee, like Petitioner, suffers from 

"discrimination," as defined by the Grievance Statute. This avenue is to file a grievance 

pursuant to the Grievance Statute. See Vest, 193 W.Va. at 227, 455 S.E.2d at 787 (noting that 

the Grievance Statute "does not give employees the option of skipping the administrative process 

and pursuing their claims de novo in circuit court ...."). The statute does not give the aggrieved 

person and option to file "any legal action necessary" like in the Wage Payment and Collection 

Act, nor does it make reference to pursuing a "discrimination" claim under the WVHRA. The 

only forum to adjudicate "discrimination," as defined by the Grievance Statute, is through the 
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administrative process. Therefore, while Petitioner has placed reliance on the Court's decision in 

Reichler, this reliance is spurious, at best, because of the absence of language in the statute 

allowing for a public employee to chose the forum to adjudicate claims under the Grievance 

Statute. 

In addition, a closer examination of Reichler actually supports the lower court's finding 

that Petitioner must first exhaust her administrative remedies. In Reichler, this Court recognized 

that the exhaustion of administrative remedies is a well-settled principle in our jurisprudence. 

The Court stated the well-settled principle as follows: 

The general rule is that where an administrative remedy is provided by statute or 
by rules and regulations having the force and effect of law, relief must be sought 
from the administrative body, and such remedy must be exhausted before the 
courts will act. 

Reichler, 226 W.Va. at 324, 700 S.E.2d at 535 (citing Syl. Pt. 1, Duarelle v. Traders Federal 

Savings and Loan Association, 143 W.Va. 674, 104 S.E.2d 320 (1958) and also citing Syl. Pt. 2, 

Sturm v. Roard ofEducation ofKanawha County, 223 W.Va. 277, 672 S.E.2d 606 (2008)). The 

decision in Reichler does nothing to undermine this well-settled doctrine because the Court notes 

that there are certain exceptions to the rule. While Petitioner asserts futility as an exception, as a 

matter of law this. argument fails based upon settled law in this area. See discussion infra at 

Vl.l.2. Because of such great deference to this well-settled doctrine, the Court looked at the 

language of the Wage Payment and Collection Act to find that the Legislature did not intend for 

the administrative process included in the Wage Payment and Collection Act statute to be the 

sole judicial forum available to a claimant. Rather, because of the express language in the 

statute, the Court rightly found that the doctrine of exhaustion of administrative remedies was 

not applicable because the Wage Payment and Collection Act provided an option as to the 

judicial forum. As previously discussed, here, the Grievance Statute does not provide this same 
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option for a judicial forum. Thus, because the Grievance Statute does not provide an option for a 

grievant to select the forum for which he or she seeks a remedy, this Court must apply the well

settled doctrine and uphold the lower court's application of the doctrine of administrative 

remedies in this matter. 

Finally, while Petitioner rightly asserts that the West Virginia Human Rights Act does not 

require an exhaustion of its administrative remedies, this too supports the holding of the lower 

court in this matter. In Price v. Boone County Ambulance Authority, this Court held that "[aJ 

plaintiff may, as an alternative to filing a complaint with the Human Rights Commission, initiate 

an action in circuit court to enforce rights granted by the West Virginia Human Rights Act." Syl. 

Pt. 1., Price v. Boone County Ambulance Authority, 175 W.Va. 676, 337 S.E.2d 913 (1985). 

Much like the reasoning in Beichler, the Court in Price found that, because Human Rights Act 

allowed for a transfer to circuit court, the Legislature "intended some combination of 

administrative and judicial enforcement ...." Id. at 678, 337 S.E.2d at 916. Again, because this 

Court found that the WVHRA statute provided additional forums for the enforcement of the 

rights, the doctrine of exhaustion of administrative remedies was not applicable. As discussed 

above, the Grievance Statute does not provide for any other judicial forum, expressly or 

otherwise. Therefore, because of such, the doctrine of exhaustion of the administrative remedies 

is not only applicable, but is controlling in this matter. Thus, the lower court's dismissal of 

Petitioner's claim because she failed to exhaust her administrative remedies is correct and must 

be upheld. 

In sum, the Grievance Statute fails to provide any other forum for which an employee 

may bring a claim pursuant to the Grievance Statute. Based upon this fact alone, as was the

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